
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
       Plaintiff, 
 
v.  
 
[1] MARIA MILAGROS CHARBONIER-

LAUREANO, 
 
[2] FRANCES ACEVEDO-CEBALLOS, 
 
[3] ORLANDO MONTES-RIVERA, 
 
       and 
 
[4] ORLANDO GABRIEL MONTES-

CHARBONIER, 
 
       Defendants. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Case No. 20-CR-248 (DRD) 
 

  

 
UNITED STATES’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT CHARBONIER-LAUREANO’S 

MOTION TO DISMISS AND DEFENDANT MONTES-CHARBONIER’S  
JOINDER MOTION 

 
 The government hereby responds to Defendant Maria Milagros Charbonier-Laureno’s 

motion to dismiss. ECF No. 81 (the “Motion”). Defendant’s principal argument in the Motion is 

that although at all relevant times she served as an at-large member of the Puerto Rico House of 

Representatives, representing every Puerto Rican citizen, she was not an agent of the 

Commonwealth of Puerto Rico for purposes of the federal funds theft and bribery statute, 18 

U.S.C. § 666. This argument is directly and unambiguously foreclosed by United States v. Bravo-

Fernandez, 722 F.3d 1, 8-9 (1st Cir. 2013), which held that Puerto Rico legislators are agents of 

the Commonwealth. Recognizing this formidable precedential hurdle, Defendant alternatively 

argues that Bravo-Fernandez was erroneously decided, has been overruled, or has been augmented 

by additional extra-textual requirements. She is mistaken.  
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 Defendant next contends that the grossly and fraudulently inflated salary she paid her aide 

was “bona fide” and that a bribery or theft scheme concerning that salary—as alleged in the 

Indictment (ECF No. 2)—does not violate 18 U.S.C. § 666, which excludes “bona fide” salaries 

from the reach of the statute. See 18 U.S.C. § 666(c). But a fraudulently inflated salary can never 

be “bona fide” or earned in good faith and so this argument, too, fails.  

 Finally, Defendant’s argument that the government must identify in the Indictment a 

particular federal program within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 666(b) lacks any support in the case 

law, which instead categorically provides otherwise. The Motion should be denied. 

 Defendant Orlando Gabriel Montes-Charbonier (“Montes-Charbonier”) has separately 

sought to join Defendant’s Motion. ECF No. 85. The government does not oppose Montes-

Charbonier’s joinder motion, but addresses that motion separately below.  

BACKGROUND AND LEGAL STANDARD 

 From approximately 2012 until 2020, Defendant served as a member of the Puerto Rico 

House of Representatives. Indictment at ¶ 6. Defendant’s aide Frances Acevedo-Ceballos 

(“Acevedo”) began working in Defendant’s legislative office in or about 2013 and continued 

working for her through 2020. Id. at ¶¶ 12, 17, 18. Until in or about 2017, Acevedo’s bi-weekly, 

net government salary was approximately $800. Id. at ¶ 17. But beginning in or about early 2017 

and continuing until in or about July 2020, Defendant fraudulently inflated Acevedo’s salary to as 

much as $2,900, more than even Defendant earned as a legislator. Id. at ¶¶ 16-18. Defendant and 

Acevedo had reached a corrupt bargain whereby Acevedo would remit a significant amount of 

Acevedo’s inflated paycheck—often in cash, through intermediaries Orlando Montes-Rivera 

(Defendant’s husband) or Orlando Gabriel Montes-Charbonier (Defendant’s son)—to Defendant 

herself. E.g., id. at ¶¶ 20-28. Defendant, Montes-Rivera, and Montes-Charbonier then laundered 
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those funds through various bank accounts. Id. at ¶¶ 64-65. Defendant then obstructed the 

investigation by deleting data from her cell phone, knowing that a warrant had been obtained for 

that phone. Id. at ¶¶ 66-69.  

 As relevant for purposes of the Motion (which exclusively targets allegations based on 18 

U.S.C. § 666), Count One of the Indictment charged Defendant with conspiracy to commit theft 

concerning programs receiving federal funds and to accept bribes and kickbacks concerning 

programs receiving federal funds (in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 371, 666(a)(1)(A) and 

§ 666(a)(1)(B)); Count Two charged Defendant with a substantive count of theft concerning 

programs receiving federal funds (in violation of § 666(a)(1)(A)); and Count Three charged 

Defendant with a substantive count of accepting bribes and kickbacks concerning programs 

receiving federal funds (in violation of § 666(a)(1)(B)). See Indictment at ¶¶ 19-48, 49-52, 53-56. 

 Defendant has moved under Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(3)(B) for dismissal of these counts. 

Mot. at 1 & n.1.  At the pretrial motion to dismiss stage, the facts alleged by the government in the 

indictment must be taken as true. United States v. Guerrier, 669 F.3d 1, 3-4 (1st Cir. 2011). Courts 

do not weigh the sufficiency of the indictment on a motion to dismiss. See United States v. 

Stepanets, 879 F.3d 367, 372 (1st Cir. 2018) (“[C]ourts must not inquire into the sufficiency of the 

evidence underlying the indictment—for when a defendant seeks dismissal of the indictment, the 

question is not whether the government has presented enough evidence to support the charge, but 

solely whether the allegations in the indictment are sufficient to apprise the defendant of the 

charged offense.” (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)). Generally, “a technically 

sufficient indictment handed down by a duly empaneled grand jury is enough to call for trial of 

the charge on the merits.” Guerrier, 669 F.3d at 4 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). 
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ARGUMENT 

I. Defendant Was an Agent of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico 

Defendant’s primary argument is that although she served as an at-large member of the 

Puerto Rico House of Representatives, one of only a handful of public officials representing the 

entire Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, she was not an agent of the Commonwealth. She is 

mistaken, as a matter both of straightforward statutory interpretation and First Circuit precedent.  

A. Applicable Law 

 Under section 666, the government must establish that the individual involved in the theft 

(or receiving or soliciting the bribe) was an “agent of an organization, or of a State,1 local, or 

Indian tribal government, or any agency thereof.” 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(1), (a)(2). The term “agent” 

is in turn defined as “a person authorized to act on behalf of another person or a government and, 

in the case of an organization or government, includes a servant or employee, and a partner, 

director, officer, manager, and representative.” Id. § 666(d)(1).  

 A legislator in Puerto Rico is “an agent of . . . a State . . . government.” Id. § 666(a)(1), 

(a)(2). In United States v. Bravo-Fernandez, 722 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2013) (Bravo-Fernandez I), a 

Puerto Rico state senator and the businessman who bribed him argued unsuccessfully that the 

senator was not an agent of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. Id. at 8-9. The First Circuit 

explained that the “plain language of the statute includes a ‘representative’ of a ‘government’ in 

the list of positions that fall under the statute’s definition of ‘agent,’ and there is no more classic 

government ‘representative’ than a legislative branch officer.” Id. at 8 (citation omitted). The 

 
1 The term “State” is defined in § 666 to include “a State of the United States, the District of 
Columbia, and any commonwealth, territory, or possession of the United States.” 18 U.S.C. 
§ 666(d)(4) (emphasis added).  
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defendants objected further that the senator was only an agent of the Puerto Rico Senate, not the 

Commonwealth. Id. at 9. The First Circuit also rejected this contention: 

Once again we need go no further than the plain language of the 
statute to conclude that [the senator] may be properly considered 
[an] “agent[]” of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. Among the 
five types of entities for which one may be an agent within the 
meaning of § 666 is a state government. The Puerto Rico Senate is 
a constituent part of the Commonwealth government, created by the 
Puerto Rico Constitution. See P.R. Const. art. III, § 1. Its members 
are thus part of the limited category of government officials who 
represent the “State” as a whole, unlike employees of localities or of 
agencies at every level of government. As such, they easily fall 
within the concept of “an agent of . . . a State . . . government.” [The 
senator] [was] thus properly considered [an] agent[] of the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico under § 666. 
 

Id. at 9 (citations and footnote omitted). 

 This uncontroversial holding finds support in numerous other decisions, both before and 

after Bravo-Fernandez. See United States v. Willis, 844 F.3d 155, 159, 167 (3d Cir. 2016) (holding 

that Virgin Islands legislature’s executive director was an  agent of the Virgin Islands government, 

not merely of the legislature); United States v. Lipscomb, 299 F.3d 303, 333 (5th Cir. 2002) 

(“Congress clearly sought to apply § 666 to legislative-branch officials.”); United States v. 

Madrzyk, 970 F. Supp. 642, 643-44 (N.D. Ill. 1997) (holding that city councilman was an agent of 

the city and rejecting argument that councilman was merely an agent of the city council); see also 

United States v. Van Pelt, 448 F. App’x 301, 305 (3d Cir. 2011) (“[A]s a state legislator who voted 

on the budget, Van Pelt had control of New Jersey funds.”); United States v. Pretty, 98 F.3d 1213, 

1219 (10th Cir. 1996) (“Because [the deputy state treasurer] was in charge of investing the state’s 

funds, not merely the [state treasurer’s] funds, we find that she was indeed an agent of the state.”); 

United States v. Rosen, 809 F. Supp. 2d 263, 264 & n.3 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (recognizing that three 

bribed New York state legislators served as agents of New York state); United States v. McGregor, 
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No. 10-CR-186, 2011 WL 1562882, at *3 (M.D. Ala. Apr. 4, 2011) (“State legislators are 

‘authorized to act on behalf of . . . a government’”); United States v. Foley, 851 F. Supp. 507, 508-

09 (D. Conn. 1994) (rejecting contention that “a state legislator is not an agent but a principal of 

state government” and noting that “[s]uch interpretations abuse the clear meaning of the 

statute . . . and confound the logic of numerous decisions upholding the convictions of elected 

officials under § 666”) (overruled on other grounds). 

B. Defendant Was an Agent of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico 

 At all relevant times, Defendant—who was an at-large member of the Puerto Rico House 

of Representatives—served as an “agent” of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. Turning first to 

the statute itself, the core question is whether Defendant was an “agent . . . of a 

State . . . government.” 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(1), (a)(2); see also § 666(d)(1) (defining “agent” as “a 

person authorized to act on behalf of another person or a government and, in the case of an 

organization or government, includes a servant or employee, and a partner, director, officer, 

manager, and representative”). Because as a state legislator Defendant was both “authorized to act 

on behalf of . . . a government” and a “representative” of a “government,” she was an agent of a 

state government, that is, the Commonwealth. Defendant’s position as a state legislator falls 

squarely within § 666’s statutory definition of an “agent . . . of a State . . . government.” 

 Moreover, the Bravo-Fernandez I court directly addressed the very issue Defendant raises 

and conclusively determined that Puerto Rico legislators are agents of the Commonwealth. 722 

F.3d at 8-9. As discussed above, Bravo-Fernandez I also held that Puerto Rico state senators were 

agents of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and not merely of the state senate; the court 

recognized that “there is no more classic government ‘representative’ than a legislative branch 

officer,” id. at 8, and highlighted that members of the Puerto Rico senate are “part of the limited 
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category of government officials who represent the ‘State’ as a whole.” Id. (citing P.R. Const. art. 

III, § 1). Just as Puerto Rico senators are “agents” of the Commonwealth for purposes of § 666, so 

too are Puerto Rico representatives (particularly at-large representatives like Defendant whose 

constituency is literally the entire Commonwealth). In fact, the very Puerto Rico constitutional 

clause cited in Bravo-Fernandez treats identically the state Senate and House. See P.R. Const. art. 

III, § 1 (“The legislative power shall be vested in a Legislative Assembly, which shall consist of 

two houses, the Senate and the House of Representatives whose members shall be elected by direct 

vote at each general election.”). Defendant was therefore an agent of the Commonwealth.  

C. Bravo-Fernandez II Did Not Overrule Bravo-Fernandez I 

 Defendant resists the binding force of Bravo-Fernandez I, arguing incorrectly that it was 

overruled by a later First Circuit decision, United States v. Bravo-Fernandez, 913 F.3d 244, 246 

(1st Cir. 2019) (Bravo-Fernandez II). Mot. at 7-8. There, the First Circuit addressed the outcome 

of a retrial compelled by Bravo-Fernandez I. In Bravo-Fernandez II, the defendants (the same 

state senator and businessman) had again been convicted of § 666 bribery, but they did not reassert 

a challenge to the Bravo-Fernandez I legal determination that the senator was an “agent” of the 

Commonwealth; the defendant senator even conceded that he was an agent of the Commonwealth 

under the holding of Bravo-Fernandez I. See Brief for Appellant Hector Martínez, United States 

v. Bravo-Fernández (No. 18-1370), 2018 WL 3005366, at *18. Instead, the defendants argued that 

the government had failed to establish at the retrial that the Commonwealth had received at least 

$10,000 in federal “benefits” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 666(b), as required for a 

conviction under the statute. See Bravo-Fernandez II, 913 F.3d at 246. At the retrial, to prove this 

element, the government had relied on a stipulation that the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico 

“received over $4.7 billion in federal funds.” Id. at 248 (emphasis added). Because the stipulation 
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was general as to “funds” and not specific as to the statutory term “benefits,”2 the court held that 

the government had failed to establish that the “entity [the state senator] represented as an agent, 

in this case the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, received at least $10,000 in federal ‘benefits’ 

within the meaning of that statute” and vacated the convictions.” Id. (emphasis added) 

Bravo-Fernandez II did not annul, erode, or cast any doubt on the Bravo-Fernandez I 

holding that Puerto Rico legislators are “agents” of the Commonwealth under § 666.3 Bravo-

Fernandez II plainly stated that “the entity [the senator] represented as an agent” was “the 

Commonwealth of Puerto Rico.” Id. at 246; see also id. at 249 (explaining that whereas the issue 

in Bravo-Fernandez I was “whether [the senator] was an ‘agent’ of the Commonwealth,” the issue 

in Bravo-Fernandez II was “whether ‘benefits’ as used in the statute were received”). And as noted 

above, the defendant senator even conceded that he was an agent of the Commonwealth (so there 

was not even a dispute on that issue for the Bravo-Fernandez II court to resolve). As discussed 

above, courts both before and after Bravo-Fernandez I (at the district and circuit level, both in and 

outside of this circuit) agree that state legislators are agents of their respective states. See, e.g., 

Willis, 844 F.3d at 167; Van Pelt, 448 F. App’x at 305.  

Defendant separately discusses a brief statement in Bravo-Fernandez II that evidence 

regarding a federally funded Puerto Rico Senate childcare program introduced at the first trial 

would have sufficed to establish the § 666(b) element had it been introduced at the second trial. 

 
2 Under Fischer v. United States, 529 U.S. 667, 677(2000), only federal monies that “promote[ ] 
well-being,” such as those which provide individuals with “financial help in time of sickness, old 
age, or unemployment,” may qualify as “benefits.” Not all federal “funds” constitute “benefits” 
under § 666(b).  
 
3 Even if Defendant were correct that Bravo-Fernandez II were somehow inconsistent with Bravo-
Fernandez I, which it is not, “a newly constituted panel is bound by prior panel decisions directly 
on point,” Charlesbank Equity Fund II v. Blinds To Go, Inc., 370 F.3d 151, 160 (1st Cir. 2004), as 
Bravo-Fernandez I surely was in holding that Puerto Rico legislators are agents of the state.  
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913 F.3d at 248. But the court did not state or even suggest that only funds flowing to the Senate 

could constitute “benefits.” The court, in discussing the inadequate stipulation as to $4.7 billion in 

federal “funds” (not “benefits”) flowing to the Commonwealth, explained:  

As judges who hear cases arising out of federal benefit programs 
and who are familiar with how such programs are funded, we are 
certain that there are federal benefit programs that provide far more 
than $10,000 to the Commonwealth. . . . The question remains, 
however, whether those programs are funded by the $4.7 billion in 
[stipulated] federal funds that go directly to the Commonwealth. 
 

Id. at 249-50 (emphasis added). Put simply, the court faulted the government for failing to provide 

evidence about the Commonwealth’s receipt of federal benefits, not (as Defendant argues) for 

failing to provide evidence about the Puerto Rico Senate’s receipt of federal benefits.  

D. Bravo-Fernandez I Has Not Been Undermined by Later Supreme Court Decisions 

Defendant alternatively argues that Bravo-Fernandez I was “erroneously” decided, see 

Mot. at 11-14, and has been implicitly overruled by United States v. McDonnell, 136 S. Ct. 2355 

(2016) or Bond v. United States, 572 U.S. 844 (2014). Neither case has any bearing here. In 

McDonnell, 136 S. Ct. at 2372, the Court held that a public official cannot violate different federal 

bribery statutes (18 U.S.C. §§ 1346 and 1951(a)) merely by setting up a meeting, talking to another 

official, or organizing an event on behalf of an individual because those do not constitute “official 

acts” within the meaning of that statute. Defendant contends that the McDonnell holding sweeps 

broadly because it suggests that “[c]ourts should interpret statutes narrowly,” Mot. at 12 n.3, but 

this general principle does not compel that an entirely different statute (§ 666)—in an entirely 

different context (agency law)—be considerably pared back in contravention of its plain meaning. 

That is particularly so here, where the Supreme Court has noted the “expansive, unqualified 

language” of § 666, as well as the “broad definition of the ‘circumstances’ to which the statute 

applies.” Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52, 56-57 (1997); see also United States v. Sotomayor-
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Vazquez, 249 F.3d 1, 8-9 (1st Cir. 2001) (describing the “Supreme Court’s ‘expansive’ approach” 

to § 666 and holding that even an outside consultant to a federally funded entity can be an “agent” 

of that entity for purposes of the statute). Several courts, moreover, have held that McDonnell does 

not even apply to § 666. E.g., Winfield v. United States Prob. & Pretrial Servs., 810 F. App’x 343, 

344 (5th Cir. 2020); United States v. Boyland, 862 F.3d 279, 291 (2d Cir. 2017).  

Defendant also erroneously argues that Bond, 572 U.S. at 866, overruled Bravo-Fernandez 

I. In Bond, the Court held that a federal statute criminalizing the use of chemical weapons (pursuant 

to a non-proliferation treaty) did not reach “a purely local crime: an amateur attempt by a jilted 

wife to injure her husband’s lover [with certain chemicals], which ended up causing only a minor 

thumb burn readily treated by rinsing with water.” Id. at 848; see id. at 860 (requiring a “clear 

statement that Congress meant the statute to reach local criminal conduct”). Defendant’s reliance 

on Bond is puzzling; the profoundly mismatched application of a treaty about chemical warfare 

and terrorism to an unremarkable local offense in no way resembles the typical and unexceptional 

application here of a statute targeting local corruption to prototypical local corruption conduct. 

Section 666 is routinely applied to corrupt state legislators. See Bravo-Fernandez, 722 F.3d at 8-

9; Van Pelt, 448 F. App’x at 302-03; McGregor, 2011 WL 1562882, at *1. 

E. Section 666 Imposes No Other Extra-Textual Requirements 

Defendant finally appears to argue that even if she is an agent of the Commonwealth, 

inflating an aide’s salary does not constitute an exercise of her legislative power actionable under 

§ 666. See Mot. at 8-11. Both as a factual and legal matter, Defendant is mistaken.  

First, Defendant as a state legislator voted on appropriations bills, including those that 

appropriated the very Commonwealth funds that were the subject of her theft and bribery scheme. 

See P.R. Const. art. III, § 1 (vesting all legislative power in the Senate and House); see also, e.g., 
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Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Year Ended June 30, 2020, Puerto Rico House of 

Representatives, at 71, 76, available at https://bit.ly/37T6muR (noting that the Puerto Rico House 

“annually receive[s] an appropriation from the general Budget Resolution of the Commonwealth” 

and noting that the “principal source of revenue” for the House is “legislative appropriations from 

the Commonwealth”). She also exercised authority deriving exclusively from her elected 

legislative role to raise her aide’s salary. To the extent that § 666 requires that a legislator’s 

criminal conduct involve the exercise of legislative power, Defendant exercised such power here.  

More fundamentally, though, § 666 imposes no such extra-textual element for state 

legislators. In asserting otherwise, Defendant relies primarily on United States v. Sunia, 643 F. 

Supp. 2d 51, 56-58 (D.D.C. 2009), which addressed a territorial legislator who circumvented the 

territory’s procurement laws to obtain government contracts for his personal business supplying 

furniture to a federally funded territorial agency. The Sunia court held that in part because the 

legislator had simply used the “personal cachet” appurtenant to her legislative role for personal 

gain, she was not subject to § 666. Id. at 67. Here, by contrast, as discussed above, Defendant did 

not merely use the prestige of her legislative position to effectuate her criminal activity. As a state 

legislator, she was directly responsible for appropriating the Commonwealth funds at issue and 

she in turn used power derived from her legislative role to fraudulently inflate her aide’s salary.4 

 
4 Defendant also relies on a line of Fifth Circuit cases deriving from United States v. Phillips, 219 
F.3d 404 (5th Cir. 2000), and focuses in particular on United States v. Whitfield, 590 F.3d 325, 
344-47 (5th Cir. 2009), which overturned § 666 convictions of state judges who ruled favorably 
for an attorney in exchange for certain favors because the judges had exercised their judicial 
authority rather than their nonjudicial authority as agents of the federally funded judicial 
administrative entity. Even in the Fifth Circuit, these cases have been questioned, see United States 
v. Shoemaker, 746 F.3d 614, 622 n.7 (5th Cir. 2014) (“Since Phillips, we have suggested that a 
broader definition of ‘agent’ is more faithful to the statutory text and purpose and to our earlier 
decisions addressing § 666”), and their reasoning has in any event been rejected by the First 
Circuit. See Sotomayor-Vazquez, 249 F.3d at 8 (quoting extensively from a Phillips dissent and 
explaining that an “expansive definition of ‘agent’ is necessary to fulfill the purpose of § 666”). 
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II. The Fraudulently Inflated Salary Was Not “Bona Fide” 

Wrongly asserting that a fraudulently inflated salary is outside the reach of 18 U.S.C. § 666, 

Defendant next seeks dismissal of the federal funds theft and bribery charges based on the so-

called “bona fide” wages provision of the statute, which reads: 

This section does not apply to bona fide salary, wages, fees, or other 
compensation paid, or expenses paid or reimbursed, in the usual 
course of business. 
 

18 U.S.C. § 666(c). Defendant contends that her aide Acevedo’s fraudulently inflated government 

salary—a salary that at times exceeded even Defendant’s own salary as a sitting legislator—was 

“bona fide” compensation earned for work undertaken “in the usual course of business” and 

therefore cannot form the basis of a theft or bribery charge under 18 U.S.C. § 666. Because a 

fraudulently inflated salary cannot be “bona fide,” Defendant is incorrect.  

A. Applicable Law 

 As relevant here, Counts One, Two and Three address federal funds theft and bribery 

violations of 18 U.S.C. § 666, which was passed in 1984 to “extend federal bribery prohibitions to 

bribes offered to state and local officials employed by agencies receiving federal funds.” Salinas, 

522 U.S. at 58. In § 666, Congress exercised its authority to “see to it that taxpayer dollars 

appropriated under [the Spending Clause] are in fact spent for the general welfare, and not frittered 

away in graft or on projects undermined when funds are siphoned off.” Sabri v. United States, 541 

U.S. 600, 605 (2004). The bona fide wages provision, § 666(c), was added to the statute in 1986 

“to avoid its possible application to acceptable business practices.” H.R. Rep. No. 99-797, at 30 

(1986). The central issue raised by § 666(c) is whether a particular payment is “bona fide,” that is, 

 
The dispute is academic, though, since even if the Phillips/Whitfield reasoning applied, Defendant 
exercised legislative authority to effectuate her theft and bribery scheme.  
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whether it was “[m]ade in good faith[,] without fraud or deceit.” Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 

2019); see also United States v. George, 841 F.3d 55, 62 (1st Cir. 2016) (defining “bona fide 

salary” as “salary actually earned in good faith for work done for the employer”).  

The First Circuit has on three recent occasions addressed § 666(c). First, in United States 

v. Cornier-Ortiz, 361 F.3d 29, 32-37 (1st Cir. 2004), the court upheld the § 666 conviction of a 

contractor to a public housing authority who—to secure favor with an employee of the authority 

and to facilitate the flow of federal funds to the contractor’s business—surreptitiously hired and 

paid a salary to the housing authority employee’s brother (who in turn remitted some of his salary 

to the housing authority employee). The First Circuit rejected the argument that § 666(c) excepted 

the payments, because the scheme violated housing authority conflict of interest rules that 

prohibited the employee from receiving the payments and a “scheme designed to evade conflict of 

interest rules is hardly legitimate or acceptable.” See id. at 36-37. The fact that the payments “were 

made for a legitimate purpose”—the brother was hired to perform work that was in fact 

completed—was irrelevant, the court held. See id. at 36.  

Similarly, in United States v. Dwyer, 238 F. App’x 631, 634-38, 647-48 (1st Cir. 2007) 

(unpublished), the First Circuit upheld the conviction of an employee responsible for payroll at a 

federally funded series of nonprofits who padded the time sheets of favored employees with hours 

the employees did not actually work. These salary payments, the court recognized, were “not made 

in the usual course of business and thus were not bona fide” under § 666(c). Id. at 647-48. Finally, 

in United States v. George, 841 F.3d 55, 58-62 (1st Cir. 2016), the court upheld the § 666 

conviction of a contractor to a federally funded local transit entity where the contractor paid 

salaried employees to perform work at his personal farm. If all salary payments fell within the 
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§ 666(c) exception, the court explained, “a fraudster would only have to structure his loot as salary 

to evade prosecution.” Id. at 62.  

Outside the First Circuit, some courts have taken a broader view of the scope of the § 666(c) 

bona fide wages exception. For example, the Sixth Circuit upheld the dismissal of a § 666 

indictment where sheriff’s deputies obtained their jobs by paying bribes, but where—after their 

hiring—they performed necessary work and responsibly fulfilled their duties. See United States v. 

Mills, 140 F.3d 630, 633-34 (6th Cir. 1998); see also United States v. Mann, 172 F.3d 50 (6th Cir. 

1999) (upholding dismissal of § 666 counts where school principal performed all the duties of his 

position but lacked the required qualifications to serve as a principal).5 Similarly, the district court 

in United States v. Harloff, 815 F. Supp. 618, 618-19 (W.D.N.Y. 1993) summarily dismissed § 666 

counts against individuals charged with falsifying payroll records reflecting that they worked more 

hours than they had in fact worked.6 

B. The Bona Fide Wages Exception is Inapplicable 

At the outset, whether wages are bona fide and earned in the usual course of business is a 

question of fact for the jury to decide. See Dwyer, 238 F. Appx. at 647 (“Whether wages were 

bona fide is a question of fact for the jury.”); Cornier-Ortiz, 361 F.3d at 36; see also George, 841 

 
5 The First Circuit’s decision in Cornier-Ortiz is irreconcilable with the Sixth Circuit’s decision in 
Mills, as at least one court has recognized. See United States v. O’Brien, 994 F. Supp. 2d 167, 185 
(D. Mass. 2014). In both Cornier-Ortiz and Mills, legitimate work was performed satisfactorily 
for the federally funded entity; although the fact that the work was completed proved irrelevant to 
the First Circuit in Cornier-Ortiz, 361 F.3d at 36, the Sixth Circuit held that the same fact mandated 
dismissal under § 666(c) in Mills, 140 F.3d at 633-34 (as well as in Mann, 172 F.3d at 50). 
Ultimately, however, for the reasons discussed below, the § 666 charges here would survive even 
if the Sixth Circuit’s analysis applied. 
 
6 The First Circuit’s decision in Dwyer is irreconcilable with Harloff. Payroll record falsification 
for partially performed work formed the core basis of the § 666 conviction upheld in Dwyer, 238 
F. App’x at 634-48, but was considered outside the scope of § 666 in Harloff, 815 F. Supp. at 619. 
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F.3d at 62-63 (same); United States v. Williams, 507 F.3d 905, 909 (5th Cir. 2007) (“Whether 

wages are bona fide and earned in the usual course of business is a question of fact for the jury to 

decide.”); United States v. Robinson, 903 F. Supp. 2d 766, 791 (E.D. Mo. 2012) (same), aff’d, 781 

F.3d 453 (8th Cir. 2015). Because a reasonable jury could conclude that Acevedo’s fraudulently 

inflated salary was not “bona fide” compensation earned “in the usual course of business,” the 

court should reject Defendant’s premature dismissal request at this stage.  

Even on the merits, though, the exception is facially inapplicable here. The § 666(c) 

exception applies, as discussed above, only where the salary was “actually earned in good faith for 

work done for the employer.” George, 841 F.3d at 62. Here, Acevedo’s salary was not “actually 

earned in good faith.” Id. As the Indictment alleges, the purpose of the defendants’ theft and 

bribery offenses was to enrich themselves by “stealing, obtaining by fraud, and without authority 

knowingly converting to their use, and intentionally misapplying . . . the fraudulently inflated 

portion of Acevedo’s government salary” and by exploiting Defendant’s “official position as a 

legislator to obtain bribes and kickbacks from Acevedo in exchange for inflating Acevedo’s 

government salary.” Indictment at ¶¶ 21-22; see also id. at ¶¶ 26-27, 30, 52, 56 (describing how 

Acevedo’s salary was ultimately “fraudulently increased from approximately $800” to 

“approximately $2,900” and describing the bribery and kickback arrangement). Like the defendant 

in Dwyer (who inflated timesheets at a nonprofit, 238 F. App’x at 647-48) or the defendant in 

George (who paid local transit workers to perform work at his farm, 841 F.3d at 62), Defendant 

and her co-conspirators here engaged in an ongoing scheme to divert salary funds from a federally 

funded entity for their own personal use. As the First Circuit explained, a defendant cannot 

“structure [her] loot as salary to evade prosecution.” George, 841 F.3d at 62. 
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Defendant’s contention that Acevedo performed some legitimate work and that her 

fraudulently inflated salary therefore cannot form the basis of § 666 charges, which rests largely 

on the Sixth Circuit’s decisions in Mills and Mann, is mistaken. See Mot. at 17-19. First, even if 

the test articulated in Mills and Mann applied in the First Circuit as Defendant argues (that is, if 

§ 666(c) barred prosecution where the bought-and-paid-for work was actually performed), the 

§ 666 charges here would still survive because Acevedo’s salary was fraudulently inflated and 

grossly exceeded the amount to which she was rightfully entitled. From 2014 until early 2017, 

Acevedo was paid approximately $800 biweekly. See Indictment at ¶ 17. But by the end of the 

defendants’ scheme in July 2020, Defendant paid Acevedo as much as $2,900 biweekly (a nearly 

four-fold increase driven by the theft and bribery scheme) and Acevedo was kicking back a 

significant portion of those funds to Defendant. See id. at ¶¶ 18, 21-22. Unlike the sheriff’s 

deputies in Mills (who were paid appropriately for the work they performed even though they 

obtained their jobs with a bribe, 140 F.3d at 633-34) or the school principal in Mann (who was 

paid the appropriate wage for a school principal even though he lacked the requisite credentials, 

172 F.3d at 50), Defendant paid Acevedo a continuously inflated salary driven by her desire to 

enrich herself at the expense of the people of Puerto Rico and federal taxpayers. Whereas in Mills 

and Mann the public arguably obtained the benefit of its bargain, the same cannot be said here. 

More fundamentally, Defendant’s broad construction of § 666(c) is incompatible with the 

First Circuit’s reasoning in Cornier-Ortiz. There, as discussed above, a contractor to a public 

housing authority hired the brother of an authority employee to curry favor with the employee. See 

361 F.3d at 33-37. Even though the salaried work was completed, albeit largely by the employee 

himself rather than the employee’s brother, the First Circuit nevertheless upheld the § 666 

conviction. Id. at 36-37. The court emphasized that even though the payments “were made for a 
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legitimate purpose—to hire [an] expert to obtain funding for [] work that was indeed done”—the 

payments were nevertheless “designed to evade conflict of interest rules” and were therefore 

hardly “legitimate or acceptable.” Id.7 Accordingly, even if Acevedo performed all of the work for 

which she was paid and thereby developed some theoretically authentic claim to her salary (which 

she did not), that her salary was fraudulently inflated throughout the scheme renders § 666(c) 

inapplicable. Returning to the language of § 666(c), a fraudulently inflated salary cannot be “bona 

fide” or paid in the “usual course of business” under any reasonable construction of those terms. 

Defendant’s interpretation of § 666(c) would also generate absurd results under the statute. 

See United States v. Carroll, 105 F.3d 740, 744 (1st Cir. 1997) (“Wherever possible, statutes 

should be construed in a commonsense manner, honoring plain meaning, and avoiding absurd or 

counter-intuitive results.” (citations omitted)). By her reasoning, even if Defendant had 

fraudulently inflated Acevedo’s salary to $1,000,000, no § 666 offense would lie so long as the 

payments were structured as salary and Acevedo performed some legitimate work. Such a result 

would be inconsistent with the congressional intent underpinning § 666, which was to ensure that 

taxpayer funds are not “frittered away in graft or on projects undermined when funds are siphoned 

off,” Sabri, 541 U.S. at 605, as they were here. 

 

 
7 Defendant appears to argue that the housing authority employee’s completion of work for which 
his brother was technically paid by the contractor made some difference in the Cornier-Ortiz 
outcome. See Mot. at 19. Defendant suggests, in other words, that because Acevedo did in fact 
perform some work (unlike the Cornier-Ortiz housing authority employee’s brother), Cornier-
Ortiz is distinguishable. But the Cornier-Ortiz court’s reasoning in rejecting the applicability of 
§ 666(c) hinged on the fact that the work was in fact completed and the conflicted employee paid, 
not on the fact that the employee’s brother failed to perform the contracted-for work. See 361 F.3d 
at 36. Put otherwise, there is no plausible reading of Cornier-Ortiz in which the First Circuit would 
have overturned the § 666 conviction if the housing authority employee’s brother (rather than the 
employee himself) had completed the work for which the brother was hired.  
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III. The Indictment Need Not Identify a Specific Federal Program 

 Defendant finally argues, without citation to authority providing such relief, that the 

Indictment should be dismissed because it fails to specifically identify a particular federal program 

that annually received over $10,000 during the timeframe covered by the Indictment. See Mot. at 

14-16 (citing 18 U.S.C. § 666(b)).  

A. Applicable Law 

To establish a violation of § 666, the government must prove at trial that the entity for 

which the defendant serves as an agent “receives, in any one year period, benefits in excess of 

$10,000 under a Federal program involving a grant, contract, subsidy, loan, guarantee, insurance, 

or other form of Federal assistance.” 18 U.S.C. § 666(b). But Defendant conflates this 

jurisdictional trial proof obligation with an obligation to detail specific federal program evidence 

in the Indictment itself.  

Under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 7(c)(1), an indictment need only contain “a 

plain, concise, and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense 

charged.” To satisfy this requirement, an “indictment need not say much.” See United States v. 

Stepanets, 879 F.3d 367, 372 (1st Cir. 2018). Indeed, an “indictment is sufficient if it specifies the 

elements of the offense charged, fairly apprises the defendant of the charge against which he must 

defend, and allows him to contest it without fear of double jeopardy.” United States v. Eirby, 262 

F.3d 31, 37-38 (1st Cir. 2001). Even an indictment that merely “tracks a statute’s terms is legally 

sufficient if the indictment itself gives the defendant adequate notice of the charges she must meet.” 

Stepanets, 879 F.3d at 372.  

In the § 666 context, courts routinely rebuff efforts by defendants to require identification 

of the relevant federal program in the indictment itself. See, e.g., United States v. Richard, 775 
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F.3d 287, 292 (5th Cir. 2014) (holding that an indictment was adequate even though it “fail[ed] to 

include some particulars, such as which federal program the School Board received money from,” 

because an indictment “need not list every particular of the offense”); United States v. Keleher, 

No. 20-CR-019, 2020 WL 7043948, at *7 (D.P.R. Dec. 1, 2020) (“[T]he indictment is sufficient 

even though it does not identify the source or nature of federal benefits. . . . [T]he government 

need not lay out all its evidence in the indictment, or prove its case, for the indictment to be 

sufficient.”); United States v. Shoffner, No. 13-CR-158, 2014 WL 804473, at *1 (E.D. Ark. Feb. 

27, 2014) (holding that a § 666 indictment is sufficient even where it does “not identify the federal 

program from which the funds at issue were obtained”); McGregor, 2011 WL 1562882, at *4 & 

n.1 (M.D. Ala. Apr. 4, 2011) (refusing to dismiss § 666 count and rejecting “argument that the 

[i]ndictment’s failure to include the name of the federal program which provides benefits renders 

it insufficient”); United States v. Seabrook, No. 10-CR-87, 2010 WL 5174353, at *1-3 (S.D.N.Y. 

Dec. 14, 2010) (holding that the government need “not identify the specific Federal program under 

which benefits were received” because “the law does not require that level of specificity”).  

B. The Government Need Not Identify a Specific Federal Program in the Indictment 

Here, the 26-page Indictment adequately apprised Defendant of all of the charges against 

her. The Indictment went well beyond merely tracking the relevant statutory terms, which alone 

would have been sufficient. See Stepanets, 879 F.3d at 372. The Indictment thoroughly described 

the Defendant’s scheme, detailing, among other things, (1) when Defendant fraudulently raised 

the salary of her aide; (2) how much the aide was paid at various times before and during the 

conspiracy; (3) how, when, and where the aide made various furtive payments to Defendant; (4) 

communications by Defendant regarding the payments; (5) the illegal purposes of the payments 

and Defendant’s downstream efforts to launder the funds; and (6) actions undertaken to conceal 
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the existence of the conspiracy, including Defendant’s intentional deletion of incriminating data 

from her cell phone. See Indictment at ¶¶ 17-18, 21-24, 26-28, 30-48, 64-65, 67-69. Given the 

significant quantity of particularized factual allegations in the Indictment, Defendant cannot 

earnestly contend that the government failed to “specif[y] the elements of the offense charged,” 

that it failed to apprise her “of the charge[s] against which [s]he must defend,” or that she would 

be unable to later interpose a double jeopardy defense. See Eirby, 262 F.3d at 37-38.  

The Indictment also alleges that in “each of the calendar years 2017, 2018, 2019, and 2020, 

the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico received more than $10,000 in federal benefits.” Id. at ¶ 3; see 

also id. at ¶¶ 20(a)-(b), 50, 54 (containing similar allegations). As the overwhelming authority 

discussed above (including from this Court) makes clear, the government was under no obligation 

to enumerate any particular federal program within the meaning of § 666(b) in the charging 

instrument. See, e.g., Richard, 775 F.3d at 292; Keleher, 2020 WL 7043948, at *7; Seabrook, 2010 

WL 5174353, at *2. The Indictment accordingly was sufficient on that score as well.  

 Defendant relies on post-trial cases discussing the government’s undisputed obligation at 

trial to prove that the entity receive over $10,000 in benefits. See Bravo-Fernandez II, 913 F.3d at 

247 (characterizing the appellate issue as “[w]hether the government introduced evidence at trial 

to satisfy the jurisdictional element under 18 U.S.C. § 666(b) that the government entity involved 

received ‘benefits in excess of $10,000 under a Federal program’” (emphasis added)); United 

States v. McLean, 802 F.3d 1228, 1244 (11th Cir. 2015) (same); see also Fischer v. United States, 

529 U.S. 667, 681 (2000) (affirming § 666 trial conviction and holding that Medicare payments 

are “benefits” within the meaning of the statute). These decisions have no bearing on the 

government’s pre-trial obligations with regard to naming a federal program in a § 666 indictment.  
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 The only case Defendant cites granting relief comparable to the relief she seeks is a 

decades-old, out-of-circuit, district-court level case, United States v. Cantor, 897 F. Supp. 110, 

116-17 (S.D.N.Y. 1995), that has since been rejected even in that court. In Cantor, without any 

significant analysis, the court granted a request for a bill of particulars and required the government 

to identify the federal programs funding the relevant entity for purposes of § 666. Id. The court did 

not, however, dismiss any § 666 counts (the relief Defendant seeks here). Id. Yet even in the 

Southern District of New York, the reasoning in Cantor has been rejected. More recently, in 

Seabrook, 2010 WL 5174353, at *3, the court refused to dismiss § 666 charges based on a failure 

to name a specific federal program in an indictment. After conducting a detailed examination both 

of the law governing indictment particularity and § 666(b), the court explained that because “no 

nexus must be proven between Federal funds and the business or transactions affected by [the 

defendant’s] alleged corrupt acts, no additional detail” beyond language “tracking the required 

statutory element . . . must be provided in order to put the [defendant] on notice.” Id. at *1-3.8 

 Accordingly, the Indictment adequately alleged the § 666(b) element. 

IV. Montes-Charbonier’s Motion Misconstrues the Relevant Law 
 

Defendant Montes-Charbonier, as discussed above, sought to join Defendant’s Motion. 

ECF No. 85. The government does not oppose that request, but responds below to certain 

misunderstandings evident in Montes-Charbonier’s motion.  

First, Montes-Charbonier incorrectly suggests that there is “no specific allegation (or 

evidence] that [Montes-Charbonier] retained or received any portion of the funds at issue.” ECF 

 
8 Defendant suggests in a footnote that the § 666 counts should be dismissed because the “jury had 
no basis to find the jurisdictional requirement met, and neither did the grand jury.” Mot. at 15 n.4. 
This case has not yet proceeded to a jury trial. And, as evidenced by the return of the indictment, 
the grand jury found probable cause to believe that the § 666(b) jurisdictional element was met.  
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No. 85 at 2. As Montes-Charbonier recognizes, id., the Indictment does allege that it was a purpose 

of the conspiracy for all defendants “to enrich themselves.” Indictment at ¶¶ 21-22. The Indictment 

further alleges, for example, that Defendant, “together with and aided and abetted by . . . Montes-

Charbonier . . . did corruptly solicit and demand for their own benefit, and accept and agree to 

accept, things of value.” Id. at ¶ 56 (emphasis added).  

In any event, to the extent Montes-Charbonier suggests that he must personally benefit 

from the fraud in order to be convicted of an 18 U.S.C. § 666 offense or of honest services fraud 

under 18 U.S.C. § 1346, he is incorrect. See United States v. Spirito, No. 19-CR-43, 2020 WL 

3913470, at *4 (E.D. Va. July 10, 2020) (“Nothing in the text of § 666 requires proof of a personal 

benefit to a defendant to sustain a conviction and there is no case law imposing such a broad 

limitation.”); see also United States v. Riley, 621 F.3d 312, 332 (3d Cir. 2010) (“To support a fraud 

conviction it is not necessary for the Government to demonstrate that the defendant personally 

benefitted from the scheme.” (internal quotation marks, citation, and alteration omitted)).  

Montes-Charbonier also erroneously suggests that should the Motion be granted, Counts 

11 and 12 of the Indictment—charging money laundering in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1956(a)(1)(B)(i), see Indictment at ¶¶ 64-65—should also be dismissed. The money laundering 

statute requires the government to establish that the targeted financial transactions involved the 

use of proceeds of “specified unlawful activity.” See 18 U.S.C. § 1956(c)(7) (defining “specified 

unlawful activity”). Here, the proceeds at issue derived from violations of both 18 U.S.C. § 666 

and 18 U.S.C. § 1346, see Indictment at ¶¶ 64-65, both of which independently constitute 

“specified unlawful activity” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(c)(7). But the Motion seeks 

dismissal only of the allegations under 18 U.S.C. § 666. Accordingly, even if the Motion were 
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granted in its entirety, the money laundering counts would survive because the additional honest 

services fraud allegations under 18 U.S.C. § 1346 would remain.  

Finally, Montes-Charbonier suggests in his motion that his participation in the scheme is 

limited to the specific overt acts enumerated in the Indictment. ECF No. 85 at 1-2. But the 

Indictment’s list of overt acts was non-exclusive, see Indictment at ¶ 29 (alleging that the 

defendants “committed the following overt acts, among others”), since the government need not 

prove its case in a charging document. See United States v. Innamorati, 996 F.2d 456, 477 (1st 

Cir. 1993) (“The government need not recite all of its evidence in the indictment.”).  

CONCLUSION 

 The fundamental question presented by the Motion has already been answered by Bravo-

Fernandez I: Defendant is an agent of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. 722 F.3d at 8-9. 

Moreover, Defendant cannot sidestep § 666 by “structur[ing] [her] loot as salary to evade 

prosecution.” George, 841 F.3d at 62. A fraudulently inflated salary is not “bona fide.” Finally, 

the Indictment specifies the elements of the § 666 offenses, fairly apprises Defendant of the charges 

against which she must defend, and allows her to later interpose a double jeopardy defense, see 

Eirby, 262 F.3d at 37-38; to the government’s knowledge, no court has ever dismissed a § 666 

count for failure to name a federal program in the indictment. For these reasons and those 

articulated above, the Motion should be denied.  

WHEREFORE, the Government respectfully requests that the Court deny the Motion. 

 

 

 

 

Case 3:20-cr-00248-DRD   Document 86   Filed 03/03/21   Page 23 of 24



24 
 

Dated: March 3, 2021. 
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